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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

SARA GIANNATTASIO,
Haintiff,
V. No. 18ev-176
EXCELLENT PANCAKE, INC;
DINE EQUITY, INC.; and

GAURAV ARORA,
Defendans.

OPINION
Joint Motion for Approval of Settlement Agreement, ECF No. 20—Granted in part

Joseph F. Leeson, Jr. August 14, 2018
United States District Judge

Before this Couris a joint motion to approve a settlement agreement in a FLSA action.

For the reasons discussed below, this Court grants the motion in part and denies.it in part
l. BACKGROUND

On January 16, 2018, Plaintiff filedis action against Defendants Excellent Pancake,
Inc., Dine Equity, Inc., and Gaurav Arora, alleging violations of the Fair Lalaoid&rds Act
(“FLSA"), 29 U.S.C. 88 201-219; the Pennsylvania Wage Payment and Colleation
(“WPCL"), 43 P.S. 88 260.1-260.48e Pennsylvania Minimum WageA(“PMWA”), 43 P.S.
88 333.101-333.11%mnd common law claims for wrongful termination and negligent hiring,
retention, and supervision. Complaint, ECF No. 1. Plaintiff alleges that, while she vasrked
server at Dedndants’ IHOP restaurant in Wyomissing, Pennsylvania, Defendants engaged in
“time shaving” by deducting fortfive minutes per shift from servengaychecks for breaks that

the servers did not actually take. Compl. LZ6Plaintiff also alleges that Defdants did not
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pay Plaintiff overtime when she workedore than forty hours per week. Compl. {ABer
receiving no response when she complained about the time shaving to her superviatff, Plai
filed a wage payent and collection complaint withe Pennsylvania Department of Labor and
Industry. Compl. 9 19-2Plaintiff alleges that, in retaliation for thi®mplaint, Defendants,
through the restaurant manager, assaulted, verbally abused, and ultinnatelgtezl Plaintiff.
Compl. T 37.

On July 5, 2018the parties filed a joint motion to approve a settlement agree&feht.
No. 20. The agreement provides that Defendants will pay Plaintiff $3,036.52 in wages owed,
$6,073.03 in liquidated damages for her non-wage claims, and attorneys’ fees of $5,890.56, in
exchange for Plaintifé release of Defendants from all claims arising before the agreement.
Agreement {1 1, 7. Additionally, the parties agreed to a mutuadisparagement clause.
Agreement { 4. The parties represent that they have had a tdagmréod of time to consider
their decisions to accept the settlement, and that they have been representedddy coun
Agreement Y 12. They state that they have read the agreement, fully understarue pinitsac
terms, and enter the agreement “volutyaand of their own free will.’ld.

Il. LEGAL STANDARD

To safeguard employee rights, “a majority of courts have heldtmeat fideFLSA
disputes may only be settled or compromised through payments made under the supervision of
the Secretary of thBepartment of Labor or by judicial approval of a proposed settlement in an
FLSA lawsuit.”Bettger v. Crossmark, IncCiv. No. 13ev-2030, 2015 WL 279754, *3 (M.D.
Pa. Jan. 22, 2015) (citing/nnis Food Stores, Inc. v. U.S. ex rel. U.S. Dep’t of Lab@® F.2d
1350, 1354 (11th Cir. 1982)). While the Third Circuit Court of Appeals has not addressed

whether parties can settle FLSA suits for unpaid wages without court approvaict'dstirts
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within the Third Circuit have followed the majority position and assumed that judopeb\al
is necessary.’Confair v. Charles P. & Margaret E. Polk Foundo. 1:17€V-0674, 2018 WL
2095684, at *1 (M.D. Pa. May 7, 201@pllecting cases) (internal quotations omitted).
Following the Eleventh Circuit’s opinion ioynn’s Food Stores, Inc. v. U.S. ex rel. U.S.
Department of Labqr679 F.2d 1350, 1355 (11th Cir. 1982), a proposed settlement agreement
may satisfy judicial review if it is a “fair and reasonable resolutioa lnbna fide dispute over
FLSA provisions.” A stlement agreement resolves a bona fide dispute if its terms “reflect a
reasonable compromise over issues, such as . . . back wages, that are adispliye.”ld. If
the court is satisfied that the settlement agreement resolves a bona fide thepdert then
determines whether the agreement is fair and reasonable to the plaintiff, aherinet
settlement furthers or “impermissibly frustrates” the implementation ofltBAMBettger 2015
WL 279754 at *4 (citindAltenbach v. Lube CtrCiv. No. 08ev-2178, 2013 WL 74251 (M.D.
Pa. Jan. 4, 201B)
1. ANALYSIS

First, this Court finds that thegeeement resolves a bona fide dispute between the parties.
Plaintiffs Complaint alleges that she was not paid for all the hours she worked, was denied
overtimepay, and was retaliated agaimgien she complained about her employer’s violations.
One of theDefendard, Dine Equity, Inc., filed an Answer denying Plaintiff's claims, ECF No.
14, and the agreemergeifies thatll Defendants denklaintiff’ s allegations and assert that
they never failed to pay her any required compensation, or otherwise wrongé&tis€ourt is
satisfied that the settlement resolves a bona fide dispute between the parties.

Second, hiis Court finds that the terms of the katient agreement are fair and

reasonable to Plaintiff. Plaintiff has been represented by counsel througbaashj sought the
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advice of counsel before she entered the agreement, and voluntarily chose tthadeepts of
the settlement. The agreemamtards Plaintiff an amount that she clamssunpaid wages, along
with liquidated damages and her attorndgs’s. Plaintiff specifically initialed the agreement
nondisparagement clause, indicating that she understands its centraktgéttiementrad
understands and agrees to its terms.

Lastly, the Court must consider whether the settlement furthers or fragtrate
implementation of the FLSA in the workplace. The proposed Settlement Agreenedbher
not contain a confidentiality clause and thus avoids a common basis for rejectippseor
FLSA settlementSee, e.gDiclemente v. Adams Outdoor Advert., Jr€iv. No. 15ev-0596,
2016 WL 3654462, *4 (M.D. Pa. July 8, 2016)liere is‘broad consensushat FLSA
settlement agreements should not be kept confidential.”).

However, this Court finds that the waiver and releds#aimsprovisions are overly
broad and require modification. The FLSA was enacted in part to combat “inegualitie
bargaining power between employers and employégsris Food Stores679 F.2d at 1352
(citing Brooklyn Sav. Bank v. Qkil, 324 U.S. 697, 706 (1945)). Recognizing this fact,
“[d]istrict courts reviewing proposed FLSA settlements may require litigants to limitdpe sf
waiver and release provisions taims reated to the specific litigatiomn order to ensure equal
bargaining power between the partidBettger 2015 WL 279754, at *&ollecting cases)he
Bettgercourt reviewed waiver provisions that precludee plaintiff from raisingany and all”
claims she might have against the defendant prior to the execution date ¢tl¢heese
agreementld. at *9. Recognizing that the terms of the agreement extended far beyond the claims
at issue in the cas@thout any explanation by the partiélse cout rejected the release

provisions as “inappropriately comprehensive.”
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The settlement in this casentains equally broad release provisions, according to which

Plaintiff releases Defendant®m

any and allclaims, demands, losses, liabilities, aralises of action or similar
rights of any type arising or accruing on or before the date this Agreement was
reached,whether known or unknowras a result of or because of any act,
omission, or failure to act by any of the Released Pamtielsiding but ot limited

to, those arising out of or relating in any way to Ms. Giannatm@mployment

by, association with, and termination of employment with Excellent Pancake

Agreement { 7a (emphases added). Additionally,

The Claims released include, but are not limited to, claims arising angether
federal, state, or local laws or regulations regulating employmectuding but

not limited to any federal, state, or local law enforcing express or implied
employment cotracts or covenants; any other federal, state, or local laws
providing relief for alleged wage payment violations, unlawful discrimination,
wrongful discharge, breach of contraaty and all tort claimsincluding but not
limited to, physical or personaijury, emotional distress, or stress claimsany

way related to Ms. Giannattas®employment or termination of employment with
Excellent Pancakantentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress, fraud,
negligent misrepresentation, defamatiorvasion of privacy, violation of public
policy, and similar or related claims and any and all claims arising undenco

law.

Agreement § 7kemphases added). Like the waiveBettger these waiver provisions would
extend beyond the subject of thiggation and would bar any potential cause of action Plaintiff
might have agaist Defendants arising from events that predate the signing of the agreement.
Therefore, ike the court inBettger this Court approvethe waiver andelease provisions only to
the extenthattheyrelease Defendants from ctas that fall within the statutory and common
law causes of action in Plaintiff complaint and the facts of this litigatiorhe parties are

directed to revise the release and waiver provisions in Paragraph 7 of the agreeorelimgly.
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V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the Joint Motion is granted in part and denied in part. A

separate order follows.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ Joseph F. Leeson, Jr.
JOSEPH F. LEESONIR.
United States District Court
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